STATE OF VERMONT
HUVAN SERVI CES BOARD

In re ) Fair Hearing No. 11,958
g
)
Appeal of )
| NTRODUCTI ON

The petitioner appeals the decision by the Departnent of
Soci al Welfare denying the issuance of a replacenent check for
suppl emental fuel assistance. The issue is whether the
Department's regul ation that fuel assistance checks nust be
cashed within 60 days or forfeited violates the petitioner's
rights under the Anericans with Disabilities Act (ADA) or as a

matter of constitutional due process.

FI NDI NGS OF FACT

The facts are not in dispute, and are taken fromthe
parti es' nenoranda. The petitioner is a disabled man who
shares a house with his sister-in-law. During the period in
guestion the petitioner was responsible for his own business

and personal affairs.

In fall, 1992, the petitioner began to becone forgetful
and confused. In January, 1993, he was hospitalized for an
extended period. In March, 1993, his sister-in-law, in the

process of nmaking arrangenents to bring the petitioner hone
fromthe hospital, cane across a supplenental fuel check for

$48. 00 issued to the petitioner on Novenber 11, 1992. The
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check contained the notation, "VO D AFTER 60 DAYS'.! The
petitioner's fuel dealer would not honor the check when it was
subsequently presented to them and the Departnent refused the
sister-in-law s request on behalf of the petitioner to issue a
new one as a replacenent.

Foll owi ng the Board's renmand, the petitioner submtted
the following letter (dated April 24, 1994) fromhis treating
physi ci an:

In response to your letter of 5 April 94, please know

that | have provided nedical care for [petitioner] for

t he past then years.

[ Petitioner] has suffered from heart disease for the past

five years, his condition considerably worsening between

1991 and 1993.

He did require cardiac catheterization and angi opl asty

for his coronary heart disease, performed at the Medical

Center Hospital of Vernont during 1993.

| amable to confirmthat his nmedical condition did prove

to be exceedingly difficult for himand was responsible

for problens with cognition that included behavi oral
abnormalities, confusion at tinmes as well as nenory

i mpai r ment .

He has since inproved considerably since that tinme and
will, hopefully, remain so.

The above letter establishes that the petitioner's
disability (heart disease) explains why he forgot to cash the
fuel check in question. The evidence does not establish,

however, that the petitioner's disability prevented himfrom

'According to the petitioner the notation was "in snall
brown letters on a brown background”, but he does not argue
that this was insufficient notice. Neither party submtted a
copy of the check or a sanple of a simlar one.
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being able to cash the check on tine. This is a crucial
di stinction under the applicable statutes and regul ati ons (see

infra).

ORDER

The Departnent's decision is affirned.

REASONS

Vel fare Assistance Manual (WAM > 2906 incl udes the
foll om ng provision:

Any check which is not cashed or presented to an energy

provider within 60 days fromthe date of issue will be

forfeited. Lost checks will be replaced only if the | oss

is reported within the 60-day period and shall be subject

to recoupnment in the event the | ost check is subsequently

found to have been properly endorsed and cashed.

The petitioner maintains that this provision violates the
ADA and due process because it contains no exception or
accommodati on for individuals who because of a disability fai

to cash their checks within 60 days.

The ADA at 42 U.S.C. > 12132 provides that:

Subj ect to the provisions of this subchapter, no
qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason
of such disability, be excluded fromparticipation in or
be deni ed the benefits of the services, prograns, or
activities of a public entity, or be subjected to

di scrim nation by any such entity.

In this case there is no dispute that the Departnent is a

"public entity" within the neaning of the Act. See 42 U. S.C.
> 12131(1). There is also no dispute that the Departnent, as

a recipient of federal funding, is also subject to the simlar
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anti-discrimnation provisions of section 504. See 29 U S.C.

3 794.

28 CF.R > 35.130(b)(7) provides:

A public entity shall make reasonabl e nodifications in
policies, practices, or procedures when the

nodi fications are necessary to avoid discrimnation on
the basis of disability, unless the public entity can
denonstrate that making the nodifications woul d
fundanmental ly alter the nature of the service, program
or activity.

In pronul gating federal regulations to inplenent the ADA
the U S. Attorney CGeneral commented that the foll ow ng
practices were prohibited:

: bl atantly exclusionary policies and practices that

are neutral on their face, but deny individuals with

disabilities an effective opportunity to partici pate.

56 F. R 35694, 35704 (1991).

Those conments make specific reference to Al exander v. Choate,

469 U. S. 287 (1985), a United States Suprene Court case
decided prior to the enactnent of the ADA that considered
whet her certain tinme limtations on inpatient hospital
coverage under Medicaid discrimnated against the handi capped
in violation of section 504. The comrents specify that the
anti-discrimnation provisions of the ADA are consistent with
those in section 504 as interpreted in Choate. |d.

In Choate, the Suprenme Court adopted a "neani ngful
access" test to determne that a "facially neutral” provision
in the Tennessee Medicaid regulations that limted inpatient

hospital coverage to fourteen days did not discrimnate
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agai nst handi capped individuals. 1d. at 301. |In that case the
basis of the plaintiffs' argunent was that as a general matter
handi capped i ndividuals required | onger hospital stays.
However, in rejecting this argunent the Court concl uded that
nothing in the record suggests that the handi capped
will be unable to benefit neaningfully fromthe coverage
they will receive under the 14-day rule.” |d. at 302.
However, the Court al so nade clear that there may well be
circunstances in which ". . . reasonable adjustnents in the
nature of the benefit offered nust at tinmes be nmade to assure
meani ngful access.” 1d. at 301, footnote 21.

This case is indistinguishable from Choate. Allow ng
that the petitioner's disability falls under the protections
of the ADA (see |d. > 12131[2]), the 60-day limt on cashing
checks did not prevent himfrom "nmeani ngful access" to the
suppl enental fuel program Like the plaintiffs in Choate who
argued that people with disabilities usually require hospital
stays longer than the 14-day |limt that was at issue in that
case, it mght be found that people with certain disabilities
are nore likely than others to fail to conply with the 60-day
l[imt to cashing fuel checks. This does not nean, however,
that the rule violates the ADA. The petitioner's "nmenory
inpai rment” may explain why he did not, in this one instance,
cash this particular check in a tinely manner, but there has

been no showing this his disability prevented himfrom being
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able to comply with the 60-day limt. Therefore, it cannot be
concluded that the rule, per se, denied him"an effective
opportunity to participate” in the program See Fair Hearings
Nos. 11,260 and 11, 648.

Simlarly, the 60-day provision does not violate the
constitutional due process rights of disabled individuals. 1In

Canales v. Sullivan, 936 F 2d 755 (2d Cr. 1991), cited by the

petitioner, the court held that SSI applicants constitute an
"unusual ly protect(ed)"” class of individuals who nust be
allowed to argue that their disability prevents them from
conplying with the statutory time limtations regardi ng SSI
appeals. As noted above, it cannot be found in this case that
the petitioner's disability prevented himfrom cashing the
check on tine.

Mor eover, unlike SSI, no such "unusual protect(ion)" is
either inplicit in the fuel assistance statutes or required as
a matter of fundanmental fairness. The purpose of the fuel
assi stance programis "to help eligible households with hone
heati ng expenses". WA M 5> 2900. There is no allegation
that the petitioner has gone w thout heat (or any other
necessity) by virtue of the Departnent not replacing this
particul ar fuel check. Nor has the petitioner's ongoing
eligibility for fuel assistance been affected. Except for the
single check in question, he has had full access to and the

full benefit of the program-including the "enmergency”
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provisions (at WA M 3 2950 et seq.) if his failure to cash
the check in question caused himto have an "energency need"
for fuel.

For the above reasons the Departnent's decision in this
matter is affirnmed.
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